

M. Werden called the meeting to order at 7:06 pm.

ZBA Roll Call

Present: M. Werden, Chair, G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, and C. Deveaux

Absent: None

Plan Commission Roll Call

A. Hopkins, M. Hopkins, J. Miaso, J. Kallas, and J. Lemberg

Absent: T. Ridenour

Also Present: Planning & Development Services Director, Roberta Grill, Village Planner, Kristy Stone,

Associate Planner, Devin Kamperschroer,

Approval of the ZBA Minutes

A motion was made to approve the May 6, 2021 ZBA meeting minutes.

Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: G. Koziol

Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, C. Deveaux, and M. Werden

Nays: None

The motion carried.



Case (#20-19) Le P'Tit Resto Bar Tapas

Site Plan Amendment

Special Uses—for a restaurant to serve liquor, outdoor seating, live entertainment, and a PUD to allow two principal buildings on one zoning lot

Major Design Exception—to reduce the required number of parking spaces **PUBLIC HEARING**

The following exhibits were presented:

Exhibit A – Picture of Sign

Exhibit B - Mail Affidavit

Exhibit C - Notification of Publication

C. Deveaux I will recuse myself since I am good friends with the petitioners (7:06 pm).

D. Kamperschroer this property falls within the original Village of Bartlett corporate limits (1891) and was zoned Business in 1941. As part of the comprehensive rezoning of the village in 1978, the property was zoned B-1 Village Center District. The site plan for Banbury Fair, which widened the main driveway and proposed a possible through connection to Hickory Avenue was approved in July 1987. A site plan for an addition, adding first floor retail space and 2 additional second floor rooms, was approved in 1989. Ordinance #2004-98 approved a site plan for an addition including first floor space as well as a secondfloor apartment and a 17-foot variation for a wraparound porch. Ordinance #2012-41 granted a special use permit for a banquet facility to allow up to 6 outdoor banquets/events per year. The petitioner is requesting a site plan amendment for a tapas bar and lounge to be located in an existing 1,235 square-foot barn building on the Banbury Fair property. They are also requesting special use permits to allow a restaurant to serve liquor, outdoor seating, live entertainment, and a PUD to allow 2 principal buildings on 1 zoning lot. An addition is proposed on the west side of the barn that includes bathrooms, expands the kitchen area and provides additional seating. Water and sewer service connections would be extended to the barn for these improvements. The building will be under 2,500 square feet; therefore, a fire sprinkler system is not required. However, a smoke alarm system will be required. The proposed restaurant would have 40 seats located inside and 62 seats located on the existing patio and lawn space. The petitioner is also requesting a major design exception to reduce the number of required parking spaces from 16 to 4. Two on-site spaces will be designated for the apartment above Banbury Fair and an additional on-site space will be ADA compliant. In accordance with the Downtown Zoning Overlay, the proposed restaurant would require 8 parking spaces, 3 for the interior seating area and 5 for the exterior seating area. The existing retail store would require 6 parking spaces, with an additional 2 spaces required for the apartment. The Downtown Overlay allows for onstreet spaces located on an abutting street to be counted as a credit towards the parking requirement. Staff has not applied that credit as the spaces in the commuter lot directly across the street require a fee before 11 am. However, the adjacent public parking lot east of the property contains 25 parking spaces and 58 spaces are available in the commuter lot directly to the north of the site. The commuter parking spaces are free after 11 am and on weekends. The existing fencing and landscaping would remain or be enhanced to provide screening to the properties to the south. The outdoor dumpster enclosure would be screened by an existing shed structure and gate. The restaurant would operate between the hours of 4:00 PM and 10:00 PM, 7 days a week. Any amplifiers used for outdoor live



entertainment must be approved through the amplifier permit process with the village. A maximum of 6 large outdoor live entertainment events may take place within a calendar year. These events may utilize the entire site including the lawn area west of the restaurant and may or may not use amplification. Fencing for outdoor liquor service would be required. Staff recommends approval of the petitioner's requests for a Site Plan Amendment and the Special Use Permits subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report. Also, in accordance with the Downtown Overlay District major design exceptions and variations are allowed by article 10-9C-1.A subject to the conditions and standards detailed in the addendum to the staff report.

M. Werden when do you hope to have operations begin? The petitioners Rakesh Chopra and Bruce Suffern came forward and were sworn in by M. Werden. R. Chopra we will be operational after the bathrooms are done next year. M. Werden will there be extensive rehabbing on the barn and will it have the same look? B. Suffern the interior of the barn is being extensively remodeled. We just finishing putting in new doors and windows. All of the electric is going to be new. We have worked with the fire district on the design of the fire alarm system for the barn. The major challenge will be tearing down what we call the cottage, which is the building on the side of the barn. That will be torn down and a new structure will be built there to house the bathrooms and it will be connected to the back of the barn where the prep kitchen will be. We are going to great lengths to preserve the character of the barn. The barn has been a commercial property for 30 years and has successfully attracted people because of its unique appearance and charm. We are going to great lengths to preserve that and also doing the necessary upgrades to make it safe and attractive. **B. Bucaro** regarding the parking variance, I view this as very similar to More Brewing and 120 Live in the downtown area. Spaces are available and it is not uncommon in other villages to have to walk a block or two and as demonstrated with the parking in the Metra lots and other small village lots. I think that suffices and I do not have an issue with the parking.

M. Werden opened the public hearing portion of the meeting.

Terry Hogan of 350 Wayne Court stated that he supports Bruce as well as Banbury Fair and their efforts to get this accomplished. They have very nice shops and this is very nice for the neighborhood. When I saw what they were doing I was very excited. I just wanted to say that I am here to support them and I hope that the Board will approve this so that we can have more shopping and dining opportunities. Matthew Newman of 310 S. Hickory Avenue stated I am pretty close to this property and I am excited about it. I am a little worried about noise. D. Kamperschroer stated each amplifier permit application would need to go through a staff permitting process. M. Newman I am 4 or 5 houses down and I have a baby on the way so it is a concern. I cannot see people using the parking across the street because it is across the tracks and you have to go to the next street over. There are already people parking on the street, across the street. I would like you to consider the parking and the noise.

- M. Werden asked if there were any further questions. No one came forward.
- M. Werden closed the public hearing portion of the meeting.



M. Hopkins made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-19) Le P'Tit Resto Bar Tapas for a Site Plan Amendment and Special Use Permits subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: M. Hopkins Seconded by: A. Hopkins

Roll Call

Ayes: A. Hopkins, M. Hopkins, J. Miaso, J. Kallas, J. Lemberg

Nays: None

The motion carried.

G. Koziol made a motion to pass along **a positive recommendation** to the Village Board to approve case **(#20-19)** Le P'Tit Resto Bar Tapas for a major design exception to reduce the required number of parking spaces subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: G. Koziol Seconded by: M. Sarwas

Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, and M. Werden

Nays: None

The motion carried.

C. Deveaux returned to the meeting (7:25 pm).



Case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) (PC Chairman Lemberg)

- A. **Second Amendment to Ordinance #2003-123** to allow for 104 residential apartments in one building
- B. Amending the Special Use for a PUD to allow for 104 residential apartments in one building
- C. Amending the approved Preliminary/Final PUD Plan (Residential Site Plan)
- D. Amending the following Exhibits attached to Ordinance #2003-123
 - o Residential Site Plan Exhibit E-2
 - o Residential Building First Floor Plan Exhibit E-4
 - o Residential Building Garage Floor Plan Exhibit E-5
 - o Landscape Plan Exhibit E-6
 - o Building Elevations Exhibit E-7 (SK-007, 008)
 - o Modifications to Bartlett Zoning and Subdivision and PUD Ordinances Exhibit E8 #3
- E. First Amendment to Ordinance #2005-124 to allow for 104 apartment units in one building
- F. Amending the following Exhibits attached to Ordinance #2005-124:
 - o Residential Buildings 3, 4, & 5 First Floor Plan Exhibit 1
 - o Residential Buildings 3, 4 & 5 Second/Third Floor Plan Exhibit 2
 - o Residential Buildings 3, 4 & 5 Elevations Exhibit 3
- G. Plat of Consolidation
- H. Variations from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code)
 - o 10-9C-3.C.3 Other Frontage Build-to Zone Corner Side Yard Setback
 - o 10-9C-3.C.6 Minimum Rear Setback
 - o 10-9C-3.C.8[7] Surface Parking & Loading Location Rear Yard
 - o 10-9C-3.D.1 Maximum Height
 - o 10-9C-4.D Table C. Prohibited Materials
 - o 10-9C-5.D.1 Table E. Minimum Parking Spaces

PUBLIC HEARING

The following exhibits were presented:

Exhibit A - Picture of Sign

Exhibit B - Mail Affidavit

Exhibit C - Notification of Publication

Exhibit D - Petition written by Bruce Dubiel

Exhibit E - Letter via email from Loretta Goddard

Exhibit F - Letter via email from Bruce Dubiel

Exhibit G - Parking Study #1 Elmhurst Terrace Apartments

Exhibit H - Parking Study #2 Elmhurst 255

Exhibit I - Parking Study #3 The Flynn, Elmhurst

The petitioners were sworn in by **J. Lemberg**.

R. Grill we received additional petition signatures. I have 5 pages of additional signatures that I would like to enter into the record as exhibit D. Also included in your packet are letters that we received from Loretta Goddard and Bruce Dubiel with additional petitions and narratives. This property was part of



the original Village of Bartlett corporate limits in 1891 and was zoned Industrial in 1941. U.S. Flexible Tubing Company (later known as Flex-Weld Inc.) built a plant on the property in 1949 to manufacture metal hoses. As part of the comprehensive rezoning of the village in 1978, the property was zoned I-1 Light Industrial District. In 2003, the property was rezoned to the PD Planned Development District, which granted special use permits for the mixed-use town center PUD and approved the preliminary/final subdivision/PUD and mixed-use and residential site plans. The original PUD Plan included two mixed-use buildings and five residential condo buildings with 24 units each. One mixeduse building and two of the residential condos were built in accordance with the original PUD Plan. In 2005, the PUD Plan was amended to allow for the modification of the floor plans for the three remaining residential condo buildings and to increase the number of units within each building from 24 to 27. The increase in units reduced the parking ratio from 1.45 to 1.30 for the remaining 3 condo buildings from 24 to 27. One of the condo buildings, building 3, was built in accordance with the amended PUD Plan. The 2 condo buildings that were planned for this site, which were buildings 4 and 5, were never constructed and the Village has retained ownership of the undeveloped property commonly known as Site E in the TOD Plan. The petitioners are requesting to amend the approved ordinances, all of the exhibits, the preliminary/final PUD plan, and the special use, to allow for the construction of a 104-unit apartment complex. This building would include a mix of 14 studios, 48 one-bedroom and 42 twobedroom units. There would be 100 storage lockers located in the underground parking garage; as well as a package room, community space, fitness center, lobby, and office area proposed on the first floor. The building would include a secure entry system at both the north and south entrances. The proposed building would be 5 stories in height with a mean height of 60'1" and constructed primarily with 4 different color palettes of brick and a renaissance stone base. The roof top mechanicals would be located behind a 3'4" high parapet wall which architecturally provides for varying roof heights on each of the elevations. The proposed density for this development would be 55.6 dwelling units per The proposed preliminary/final PUD plan identifies 73 surface parking spaces and 48 underground/garage spaces for a total of 121 spaces. The Downtown Zoning Overlay District requires 130 parking spaces for this site or 1.25 spaces/unit. The petitioners are requesting a major design exception to reduce the parking requirement by 9 spaces or to allow 1.16 spaces/unit. An 8' foot-wide multiuse path is included as part of this plan located along the western property line. This path was a recommendation from the TOD Plan which promoted connectivity through this development to the Metra commuter station. A full curb cut is proposed along Berteau Avenue which would also serve as the construction entrance and exit. All construction vehicles would be required to approach the site from Berteau via Devon Avenue and no construction traffic would be permitted along Railroad Avenue. Both indoor and outdoor bike racks would be located on the site as required in the Downtown Zoning Overlay. There would be 37 hanging bike racks located in the underground garage, with 3 racks providing spaces for 6 bikes located along the Railroad Avenue frontage. The overall length of this building along the Railroad Avenue frontage requires that 2 benches be placed along this streetscape and the petitioners have included a bench east and west of the north entrances. additional benches have been placed along the south property line within a seating area located adjacent to the bike path. Several native trees and some of the existing vegetation will also be preserved along the south property line. The existing trees located on the adjoining apartment complex property to the south will remain. The petitioner is also requesting a plat of consolidation which would combine the 4 existing parcels to create one zoning lot. The major design exceptions are being requested by the petitioner and those include the other frontage build-to zone corner side yard



setback, 7.5 foot minimum setback is required and 5' is provided; a minimum rear setback, 7.5' is required, 2' 8" is provided; surface parking and loading location in the rear yard, the rear parking shall not extend beyond the building and parking extends 2'4" beyond the building; the maximum height, 4 stories is the maximum, 5 stories is provided; prohibited materials (metal sheets), aluminum composite to allow aluminum composite panels as a minor façade material; minimum parking spaces; 1.25 parking spaces per unit is required, 1.16 parking spaces per unit is being provided. The petitioner has provided a separate response to each of the major design exceptions and the justifications, and those are included in your packet. Landscape, photometric and engineering plans are currently being reviewed by the staff. Staff does recommend approval of the petitioners' requests for amending the special use permit, the preliminary/final PUD plan the above-referenced exhibits associated with each of the Town Center ordinances and the plat of consolidation, subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report. The petitioners are here tonight.

J. Lemberg does anyone have any questions for staff at this time? A. Hopkins has any other type of development come up like this before in the Village? R. Grill can you be more specific? A. Hopkins has there been any other 5 story apartment buildings that have applied or been reviewed similar to this? R. Grill regarding the height or type of use? A. Hopkins both. R. Grill are you asking has it come before this commission or just to staff for concept review? A. Hopkins just to the Plan Commission or Village Board Committee of the Whole. R. Grill no. We have had other buildings in town that have exceeded this height limit. Clare Oaks to the west on W. Bartlett Road is actually 75' tall and the Plan Commission recommended approval for 80 feet. M. Werden since you cited those properties, this proposal is also higher end with better materials and even with the studio apartments that is not going to generate a lot of cars, correct? R. Grill that is correct and the petitioner has a presentation to demonstrate those statistics. J. Pikarski, Gordon and Pikarski, Attorney at Law it is my pleasure to present to you this evening the Residences at Bartlett Station. This is in my estimation probably one of the most exciting ideas that has come to the Board in probably decades. I represent MMAJ, LLC, but specifically its principal, Manny Rafidia. The property is at the southwest corner of Railroad Avenue and Berteau Avenue. The property measures about 81,500 square feet. It is currently owned by the Village. The property has frontage along Railroad Avenue of 376 feet. It is irregular in shape. I would call it trapezoidal. The property has 4 parcels. We are seeking to consolidate those 4 parcels into 1 parcel. The zoning is part of the Bartlett Downtown Plan with a Downtown Zoning Overlay and TOD Overlay. It has been subject to at least 2 reviews with this Board, which were both voted favorably, but were never completed, unfortunately. The building that we are presenting contains 104 units. We are providing 137 parking spaces. That is 48 spaces in the building, 73 spaces outside the building and 16 auxiliary spaces in the shopping center, which my client owns to the south of the subject site. The makeup of the units are 14 studios, which have about 650 square feet in each unit and will rent for about \$1,000 per month. It has 48 one-bedrooms, which have about 800 square feet and should rent for approximately \$1,240 per month. It has 43 two-bedroom units, which will contain approximately 1,200 square feet and rent for about \$1,860 per month. Our developer, Manny Rafidia, is not unknown to the Village. He is of the Village. He purchased a faltering shopping center within 500 feet of the subject site and turned it around. It is now a viable and tax-generating entity of which the Village can be exceptionally proud. It is called The Streets of Bartlett. As an exhibition of faith in the community, Manny is about to spend about \$15 million. You can only imagine what that does to the tax base of the Village of Bartlett. Also, the subject development will be within walking distance to the various



shopping areas that have been created within the Village and within 500 feet of the subject site. The subject of 104 units and how we arrived at that is not an arbitrary number that we just picked. In order to develop the site, a reasonable rate of return is approximately 8 percent. In order to do that, based on the cost of building, land and soft costs, 104 units is mandated. This is the amount that we have always spoken of. This is the amount we need in order to make this a viable project. We have expressed this to the Village Board and they have entered into a contract with us that is subject to obtaining 104 units. The legislative body of this Village has spoken as to their ideas as to the density of this project. M. Haylock, Arch America I would like to highlight the key features that we would like to focus on. This is a 5-story building with 104 apartments. We have 2 entrances into the building, the main entrance on Railroad Avenue and around the back on the parking side. Both sides of the building look identical. We also have side entrances. The vehicular access is off of Berteau and we have 73 parking stalls. Trash storage is in the basement and to get to the basement you go down the heated ramp. Trash will be wheeled out on trash mornings and the maintenance person will wheel the dumpsters up with a vehicle. You will not see any trash outside of the building. The back of building, which faces one of the residential developments has a drainage swale that runs across the site and there is storm water piping that wraps around and comes out to the storm sewer. That same sewer serves all of the buildings in the area. That sewer follows the street and about 2 blocks down there is a shared community detention basin. This site does not actually have detention on it, it is shared through that basin. The engineer has already designed the site and used all of the current bestengineering practices to make sure that all of the storm water will stay on the site and not spill over the property lines and may be even better than it is now. We will be following all of the required codes as well as staff approvals. There are a lot of trees along the property line and I believe we are going to keep all of them and add an additional buffer along the property line so that there is a screen to the parking lot. Regarding the variations, a lot of those have to do with setbacks. This site is trapezoidal and as you can see, if this property was straight, we could get more parking stalls and if it was actually square, we would not be talking about parking at all and would have met the ordinance. The side yard setback requirement along the street is 7.5 feet because the building got shifted to make room to get into the garage. We want to make sure that we have enough room for the cars to go down the ramp and get into the garage without having too sharp of a turn there. With the pedestrian path, which is 8' wide, we are really pinched at that spot. It is only 5' but increases to 20' so the average is well over 7.5 feet. The other variation we are asking for is to allow parking to project past the end of the building by a couple of feet. The variation is a rear yard setback and that is not a setback to the building, it is a setback to the parking stalls. We were trying to get as many parking stalls as we could. The building will have a variety of materials. There is renaissance stone at the base, which basically has the same properties as limestone. We have that throughout the building. It has a more consistent finish and color. We have 3 different colors of brick starting from dark brown to medium brown to a light color, almost white. This will help with the perception of height. The building to the east is a 4-story condo building with a roof. That building is brown with a dark roof so that you can see the mass of the building because the colors are consistent. Our building is varied dark to light as you get closer to the sky to help minimize the height of the building to make it feel not quite as tall. The other variation request is the use of composite aluminum panels. This material has a thicker sheet of aluminum on both sides and is very durable. It is designed to last the life of the building and it is going to look great. Staff has approved this material. The entire facade is going to look very clean and high end. This building will have load-bearing masonry walls with precast concrete floors with 2" concrete topping.



The floors are going to be 12" thick concrete. The walls will have at least 8" of masonry plus the exterior cladding. The roof will be steel frame. We primarily do that so that it is easier to create the slope on the roof and provide insulation. This is a very expensive building to construct. It is a high-end building that will need very little maintenance. It is going to look the same now as it will 20 years from now. It will not require any painting. The material and type of construction is fire resistant. The building will be fully sprinklered and will have fire alarms. It will be very difficult for your neighbor to hear you. This is going to be a very quiet building and very well-constructed building. The height of the building from the finished floor to the typical parapet is 59' 2". The grade is roughly 6" below that. We do not want to have the grade right at floor level. To grade, the site is almost flat. It drops off a little bit right at the end facing the neighbors, but that is where the drop off is. The building from grade is really 60' 4". The neighbor's building as a comparison is 4 stories; however, based on the construction drawings, the finished floor to the highest point of roof is 50 feet. If you take it from grade to the top, it is 54 feet. Our building is 60' 4" so that is a difference of about 6 feet. We do not want our building to look like the neighbor's building. We want to create variety and varying heights is a good thing. That is how you get a streetscape and a skyline. The ceiling height on the first floor is 10', second, third and fourth floors is 9', and 10' on the top floor. We could knock a few feet off, but we want it to have a high-end feeling and keep the ceiling heights that we have. A typical floor has 21 units with a community room and exercise room. The units will have an open-concept plan with an island in the kitchen, granite countertops, and wood flooring throughout. Every tenant will have a storage locker and hanging spots for bicycles. We will also have a luxurious lobby with high speed elevators. William James, Principal Consultant, Camiros Ltd. we understand this is the first project that is being considered under your Downtown Zoning Overlay. Our firm has a lot of expertise in zoning. We do zoning ordinances for major cities across the country. Town centers require public intervention and do not evolve naturally. You have to guide them into being. I think you have done a great job with your town center so far, but you need public intervention. I think your Form Based Regulations are part of that intervention. These regulations are different from the standards in your base zoning classifications. The base zoning classifications identify minimums and maximums. They create a very large envelope in which you can do different designs whereas your TOD regulations in your downtown are much more specific. The intent of the Downton Overlay District Regulations are more in the form of guidelines than in the Base Regulations where you are expected to conform to the regulations and need a variation if you do not conform. In the Downtown Zoning Overlay if you do not conform you go through a major exception process and the criteria for that is different from the criteria for variations and the standard is lower because it is understood that specific projects will not meet each of the design regulations and the overlay. The main thing is to get the big picture right and make sure that you have projects that will help you create the kind of town center that fulfills your vision and oftentimes that includes development that is compact, fairly dense and has height to it, and the development as a whole creates a walkable community with a synergy between the uses that are there. These are all things that you want to get right as part of the big picture. The details are important, but really secondary and those would be things that would include the design exceptions in this case. I think a building with this kind of design is what you want in your town center. A lot of thought and effort went into this. There is a lot of visual interest in the building and it is an attractive building. I think that is important for your town center. I think the design exceptions are relatively minor. There are a couple of pinch points on the side yard and rear yard where we have fairly generous yards on the sides of the building, but because the site is trapezoidal it is not parallel to the lot line. There is about 150' between our proposed



building and the existing building to the west. That is a lot of space. I think that minimizes the impact that we would have in terms of our slightly taller building next to their slightly lower building. We have some variation on the front build-to-zone because the front lot line is irregular in shape. At the pinch point, we need a little relief from that 7.5', but with a generous side yard along Berteau Avenue. The setback for the rear yard is the same. There is a generous yard along the rear lot line. Surface parking and loading would be in the rear yard. The height we are asking for is 1 story above the height called for in your Downtown Zoning Overlay. I do not think that is a major point. I think it is much better to have a taller building than a shorter building. You want the height and prominence that this building will give you in your town center to make people notice that they are in a different place and special place within town with taller buildings and more density. We are slightly under the minimum requirement for parking. In TOD locations this is not unusual. I was part of a project design in Evanston where we had approved 168 units and only had a net addition to the site of 37 spaces. There was an abundance of off-site parking there and I think we have a similar condition here where we have abundant parking across the street except at certain hours. The auxiliary parking that we are going to have a short distance away will compensate for the shortage. I do not think parking will be a problem for this project. I believe all of the design exceptions we are asking for meet the criteria in the ordinance. The exceptions are needed to fulfill the intent of your Town Center District and is the kind of project consistent with the big picture for your town center. Tim Doron, Senior Transportation Consultant, Fish Transportation Group the key to parking is to utilize the assets around you i.e. the Metra station parking, right size parking of the property, and auxiliary parking. We reference in our report other communities and the national standards which are put forth by the Institute of Transportation Engineers where they have surveyed a number of these types of units nationally and locally. Their average for a suburban site within a half mile of a rail station is 1.5 per dwelling unit. Code in this overlay district calls for 1.25 spaces per dwelling unit. This site is located in the downtown district next to Metra parking, which is available after 11:00 am and on weekends to the public. In addition, we have a plan for overflow parking. Railroad Avenue is a single lane in each direction with a turn lane into the Metra parking lot going eastbound and a turn lane at Main Street going westbound. It is not signed for no parking, but you cannot park there because it is not wide enough. Berteau Avenue is a single lane in each direction. It carries about 8,000 cars a day. It is not a high-volume roadway. I believe nearby our development it could be re-striped and parking could be arranged on the east side. Mr. Rafidia owns the shopping center to the south and he has turned that into a very successful shopping center. For our site we are suggesting 16 auxiliary parking spaces at the center that are within 525 feet. J. Pikarski mentioned that the front of our property is 300 plus feet so it is not much to walk to the 16 parking spaces. With those 16 spaces we have a total of 137 parking spaces and that brings us to a 1.31 parking ratio with the auxiliary parking spaces that are only 525 feet away. We will clear that sidewalk when there is over 2" of snowfall in addition to plowing our site for people that are walking to the auxiliary parking. That is about a 2-1/2-minute walk. That is a standard from IDOT. Our parking allocation plan is for each tenant to have a space on site, first come, first serve. After the 104 spaces are allocated the 17 additional spaces will be on a first come, first serve basis. Some people may not want them. That would leave a surplus on site. After all of the 121 spaces on site are allocated that would give everybody 1 space and any auxiliary demand would be in our auxiliary parking area. The national standard used in the industry says that 1.15 spaces for a TOD is what is required. Your code calls for 1.25 spaces, which is not unreasonable. We just finished a project in Glenview with 1.18 spaces 200 feet from a Metra station with no auxiliary parking. Elmhurst has a project with 1.26 spaces per unit



and Villa Park at their Metra station with 1.28 spaces per dwelling. I think with that auxiliary parking we have safeguards built in and we have right-sized the parking. I think this project is going to bring a tremendous benefit to your downtown. You have a nice historical downtown, which some communities would give their left arm for and this will bolster that economic activity. **J. Lemberg** there are only 2 sump pumps for this building. Is that going to be enough? **M. Haylock** we have not fully engineered the building yet, but tentatively, we feel that 2 sump pumps are going to be enough. These will be commercial basins and pumps. **J. Lemberg** where will the water be pumped to. **M. Haylock** it will go into the storm system on site, down the street and into the detention basin like all of the other buildings in the area. **J. Lemberg** where will you push the snow? **M. Haylock** it will be taken off site.

J. Lemberg opened the public hearing portion of the meeting.

Mary Jo Schulte, 267 E Railroad Avenue we have very limited overnight parking. I live in a condo. People that do not have 2 spaces park in the parking lot behind us between the building and the shops. I fear that you do not have enough parking for everybody. The businesses are not going to have room for their customers. Introducing over 100 cars into the area is going to create a lot of traffic. The parking at Metra is only free after 11:00 am and you cannot park there at night. Jack Kennedy, 275 Railroad Avenue my wife and I have lived in Bartlett for 43 years. We have watched Bartlett grow without losing its charm. Expansion has been modest, but the proposed building at 5 stories is too tall and out of character with the surrounding neighborhood. Please limit this project to no more than 4 stories maximum height as our current ordinance reads. That would also solve the parking deficiency. Mary Mulluzzi, 271 E. Railroad Avenue we are concerned with the variances being requested. In 2003, the buildings approved were 3 stories, not 4 stories. The proposed building's height is out of character for our downtown and certainly out of character with the existing town center's buildings and will dwarf the surrounding buildings. The parking is insufficient. What is the impact donation? What are the occupancy limits of the apartments? If units go unrented will there be special incentives allowed? How confident is the petitioner that he will fill 104 units? Robin Dubiel, 271 E. Railroad Avenue I am asking that you not allow a 5-story building to be built with only 121 parking spaces. Please take into consideration that there is no guest parking. If the variation is approved this is going to create a real problem for the tenants as well as the neighborhood. I believe if a 5-story building is built it will be detrimental to the public and welfare of the neighborhood, specifically our downtown area. Bruce Dubiel, 271 E. Railroad Avenue I hope that you all read the narrative and petition that was signed by 55 residents or more. I would think that even though the developer owns the shopping center he would need a variation to take those spaces for the auxiliary parking. I think this building is too tall. Our input should matter. We do not want to stop this project. We simply want a project that will be a good fit for our community and something we can celebrate. Please hold this project to 4 stories. Russ Graziano, 271 E. Railroad Avenue I am the president of Bartlett Town Center II Condo Association. The association is not opposed to development of the land in question, but does have concerns regarding the proposal. We find a disconnect between the proposed building and existing buildings and fear a major problem with the proposal's allotment of parking. We believe from experience that the forecasting is in error. We have had owners sell their condos and move out because of the parking situation. In fact, in soliciting for the petition that we turned in, my neighbor informed me that he is going to sell his unit because his fiancée will not be able to park once they get married. There is no convenient alternative in and around downtown Bartlett. There is a Village ordinance that prevents



overnight parking on all of the streets and the more distant community parking lots do not allow overnight parking. Where does the overage go? I am sure there will be overage. You cannot live in our downtown community without a vehicle. The project requires more parking than is planned for. We believe that granting the parking variation request runs contrary to Bartlett's standard for variation and would be detrimental to the public and the neighborhood. Terry Daniello, 271 E. Railroad Avenue we understand that variances are regularly granted, but this site has specific requirements for development. We are putting our trust in you to act as representatives for the community and not just one entity. Jeannine Ames, 737 Candleridge Court I have concerns about the size of the building and storm water. Even though we have detention ponds we still flood. Take into consideration with the size of this building where the water is going to go. We have 328 units in Hearthwood Farms. Every unit has 2 parking spaces, 1 in the garage and 1 on the driveway. In addition to the 656 parking spaces we have 105 overflow parking spaces for visitors and we have cars parked on the street. I think you need to reduce the size of the building and make it where people can live there and not have to worry about parking. Emeli Solis, 271 E. Railroad when I found out that this building was going to be built, I decided I wanted to move. I used to live in Addison with the same type of building that is being built, but I could not sleep because of the loud noises and the police being called multiple times. I moved to Bartlett and fell in love with the peace and quiet that we have. I am currently looking for a place to move to because this will be built. I am a health professional and most of the work that I do is at apartment buildings. One of the most difficult things is finding parking especially at this type of unit. We do emergency calls and can go out late at night and that is a safety concern. Hector Solis, 271 E. Railroad I currently have 1 parking spot and we have 2 cars so I have to park at the Metra overnight. In the winter, I wake up early to move my car and keep the spots cleared for the people that pay for that parking to go downtown. When I buy groceries and bags to bring in I go underground to unload and many times I have gotten calls and emails about blocking that spot. That is frustrating to not have a spot. Normally, the parking lot is full. Jay Longfelder, 415 S. Hickory Avenue in the Village of Bartlett Committee minutes from January 10, 2021 there is a Puckett Reserve concept plan review with 15 acres and the proposal we are addressing tonight has 1.873 acres with 104 units. Puckett Reserve was 146 apartments on 15 acres with 309 parking spaces. We have ordinances to protect the community. I am concerned about the capacity of the building and the parking spaces.

J. Lemberg closed the public hearing portion of the meeting.

A. Hopkins clearly parking is a big issue. I think our Village ordinance is not correct and we need to have more parking for developments. I always point to the Savoury area. There is not enough parking. Clearly, town center does not have enough parking. There was a study done for that which said it was adequate and that was incorrect. Is there a way to eliminate units to have adequate parking? I think on-site parking is important. Off site is nice for overflow, but at this price point this is going to be for people ages 24 to 35 so you are going to have 2 vehicles. Is there a way to reduce the size of this building to accommodate the actual number of cars that are going to be there? W. James the Village has a plan for the town center with standards. We are asking for a 9-space deviation from that to be compensated by 16 or more auxiliary spaces on property with the same owner. I do beg to differ with you that you are going to have people with 2 and 3 cars living here. You are talking about the inconvenience of people living on the site. We are not talking about impacting people on other properties. If someone has to get up at 6:00 am to move their car that is what they choose to do. If



that is the arrangement that they have chosen to live in, they have chosen that. I think people will selfselect and if they have 2 or 3 cars they are not going to live here they are going to live where they have an abundance of parking. If you want an abundance of parking you are not going to get a quality town center because you are going to have a lot of parking and not have synergy or a walking/pedestrian environment. I think all of the concern about parking is really subterfuge for perhaps not wanting a 5-story building. We are asking for 1 story in excess of the standard. We are not asking for any variances because we are in the downtown overlay district and deviations would be major design exceptions, which have a different criterion, which I have addressed in my report. In terms of reducing the number of units, I can defer to the owner, but I am sure that answer is no. They want you to respond to the proposal as it is and they cannot reduce the number of units to exceed the amount of parking required by your ordinance. A. Hopkins have there been any sound studies done? My concern is the north side of town and vibrations from the train heading north. Was there a study done in that regard? W. James there are not study requirements in your ordinance for acoustical vibrations or the impact across the railroad tracks. You are going to have some vibration from the buildings that are there now and we are going to be 1 story taller than the building to the west of us. The answer is no, we have not done an acoustical study. A. Hopkins where is the retention pond for the storm water runoff? How big are the pipes and how much water is expected to runoff?

Azzam Hamdan I have been an engineer for 30 years working with construction and design. The detention has already been designed and approved by MWRD and the Village. When Asbury Place was developed the detention requirement was 4.06 acres per foot and the detention provided was 15.48, which is 3 times more than what was required. There is no way this site will not be able handle the detention that exists right now. The storm water goes to the structure on the northwest corner of Railroad Avenue and Prospect Avenue with a 4" restrictor. There is no way with that size that the runoff will flow somewhere else. M. Hopkins is the intent of the developer to own it and sell it or to hold it and manage it? J. Pikarski my client's intent is to build, own and keep the property. They have 10 other properties that they also own. This will be rental. They are asking you to allow them to invest \$15 million in this site. They intend to keep it in tip-top shape. M. Hopkins what is the elevation of the corner unit? M. Haylock it cannot be more than 2 feet. M. Hopkins what is the height of the windowsill for the bedroom? M. Haylock it is roughly 3 feet. That is a secondary bedroom. M. Hopkins the window wall is looking east towards Berteau Avenue right at the sidewalk. What is the distance between that window and the public sidewalk. M. Haylock right now it is 10' 10" if you measure it to the existing sidewalk. M. Hopkins that is street level. M. Haylock yes. M. Hopkins when we go to the existing town center building some of those facades are about 10' away, but they are elevated about 4' and that makes a huge difference in terms of separation. The units along Berteau Avenue will have windows that look right out to the public sidewalk. Can this building be pushed west? M. Haylock a lot of that has to do with wanting to provide a nice radius to turn into the garage. M. Hopkins that radius is very generous there. M. Haylock is this a concern of safety or privacy. M. Hopkins for privacy. When I look at the rendering it looks like retail on the first floor because it is kissing up close to the sidewalks and the street. We have a conflict between the public just a few feet away from a bedroom and that does not happen anywhere else in this Village. M. Haylock we have offered a lot of different choices. The person that likes to live in a private home is not going to be comfortable living in an apartment building. The style of living for a person living on the first floor with a first-floor patio is a different from the person living on the second floor or the top floor. We only have 2 units that are facing that street and even



though it is close to the sidewalk it is much more of a quiet street. I feel it is just a matter of choice. If it becomes a problem where we cannot rent this because it is too close there are options. The particular window that we are talking about is not a requirement in that unit. We could close it off in the inside so that person does not have the issue, but it still looks the same on the outside. At some point, they could put in taller landscaping for more privacy. Everybody on the first floor is going to be at a lower level. That is just a matter of choice. We are trying to keep the building height down. Obviously, we could have raised the building up 4 feet, but we did not want to increase it even higher. We are trying to minimize the height of the building as much as we can. M. Hopkins I am trying to find a way to reconcile this in terms of a good site design. The Plan Commission is not here to vote on variances and setbacks, but just to address the height of the building. The mass of the building is just too much. There is a case to be made that rental parking is self-regulating in that if you do not provide enough you will not be able to keep it leased up. R. Grill staff has been working on that issue. We have looked at providing overnight free parking 24 hours 365 days a year on Berteau Avenue on the east side. We have put together a plan for 23 parking spaces. These could be utilized by anyone. We are hearing that the condo owners are short of parking. If they have guests, they can park here. If the apartment people need parking, they can park here. If you take these 121 spaces and the 16 spaces at the shopping center that gets you to 1.31 parking spaces per unit. If you take the onsite parking of 121 and add the 16 from the shopping center and just 14 of the 23 spaces on Berteau Avenue you are at 151 parking spaces available, which brings it up to 1.45 spaces per unit and if they utilize all 23 spaces of the on-street parking on Berteau Avenue you get a total of 160 spaces or 1.53 parking spaces per unit. The existing condo buildings 1 and 2 were granted 1.45 spaces per unit. That was amended for building 3 and building 3 was built with 1.30 spaces per unit. I just want to put this into perspective. In addition, staff is also working on overnight parking at the Metra station on the north side of the tracks. That area is underutilized. In Geneva, Barrington and other cities, the 24-hour overnight parking is quite a distance from the train station for a reason, because people are willing to walk farther if they are going to leave their car there for days. During the week there would be a fee; however, on holidays, after 11:00 am and on weekends, it would be free. J. Miaso with the 14 spaces that you are counting, half of those are contemplated cars on Berteau Avenue. What would the usage rules be for those cars? R. Grill overnight, 24 hours, on street. J. Miaso somebody could leave their car there for 9 days? R. Grill yes, that would be okay. A. Hopkins are you widening Berteau Avenue for this? R. Grill no. A. Hopkins the reason we cannot do parking on a regular street is because of safety concerns, but we are going to allow it here. R. Grill this street is a low-traffic generating street and there are quite a few turn lanes on this street with striping and it is fairly wide. M. Hopkins if we got past all of the other issues except for this and said yes to this it would be conditional to any approval, right? R. Grill yes. C. **Deveaux** what is to prevent the Village from building a parking lot in the open area at the southeast corner of Berteau Avenue and Railroad Avenue? R. Grill that property is owned by Metra. G. Koziol what about snow removal? R. Grill that is still under discussion. We do not know if we would allow cars to stay there or require people to move their cars after a 2" snowfall. That has not been decided at this time. G. Koziol that could make it difficult for people who think they have a legitimate parking space if it snows. R. Grill the cars could remain. They do that in many places. We could just plow the street. A. Hopkins I definitely applaud staff for looking into the parking and finding all of this parking. I think it is upon the developer to find out how to get adequate parking for their site. I do appreciate staff finding these other solutions because there are solutions there that may need to be utilized in the future. I am glad these options have been presented. G. Koziol when I saw this plan first proposed I



was excited because it is an area that I have longed to see developed. As I started to look at this, I asked myself, what about the parking? I understand what the TOD is trying to accomplish, but when I saw there was 104 units, my first thought was to take 52 units or 52 additional parking spaces because half of the 104 units are going to have 2 cars. I do not agree with the fact that you think there is going to be that low of a requirement for parking. The issue now with Metra parking is that you cannot park overnight. You may be able to park there overnight in the future, but we cannot count on that. Metra may or may not allow us to do that. The Metra parking might be convenient for guests, but I do not think it is convenient as it exists today for the residents. **B. Bucaro** are the 16 auxiliary parking spaces firmed up and part of the plan? In the traffic study it is referenced, but my question is, will that be part of the formal plan? What if the petitioner sells the shopping center? Is there a covenant that the new owner has to abide by the 16 parking spaces being available to the apartment building? W. James it would be part of the new planned development ordinance, so yes, it is a formal part of the proposal and it would be binding and there would not be the potential for that auxiliary parking to be separated and unavailable to the apartment development. T. Doron the shopping center, which has the same owner, has 535 parking space and they are required by code to have 423 so they are way over parked. They have more parking than they need. As part of the ordinance, we would include the 16 spaces. We can go beyond 16 spaces. Those are 16 on the east/west access at the far north end of the property. There are other spaces available any time. There would also be a security system employed at that point to watch those cars at night. You either buy into the concept of TOD or not and in a town center like this, this will be market driven. I quarantee that the people who move here will not have 3 cars that is based on national data. There are very specific standards for this with suburban TOD sites within a half mile of a train station. Those are accurate figures that are widely used in the industry. It would not be to the benefit of the owner to build this and invest the money if it was not market driven. J. Pikarski we can restrict the off-site parking/auxiliary parking via a restrictive covenant so that there will be a permanent easement as to the number of parking spaces that we ultimately settle on and that easement will run from the current owner and with the land so that it would be incumbent upon any future purchasers and would run to the ownership of the proposed project. M. Werden I think several people have made valid points. When Town Center was first proposed there were a lot of people that were shocked at the height of the building and complained about the height. As we move out from the Town Center, I think it would be natural to see something this height that is only going to be about 6' higher than the roof line of the development to the west. North of the tracks there is nothing there that this would intrude. It is an isolated area as far as height. The parking, I was a little squeamish about, but I think with what the Village is proposing, we are overcoming it. When you look at the square footage of the unit, it is not going to attract large families and why would you rent a high-end apartment if you knew you would not have enough parking. That would not make sense. You are going to have a higher caliber of people who are going to do some planning and since it is a rental unit, they are not making a 30-year mortgage investment. When their lease is up, they can look somewhere else if parking is their issue. **B. Bucaro** I know the petitioner has 12 properties. Are they all shopping centers or is there also residential? M. Rafidia I have 1 residential in Lakeview and 11 commercial properties. M. Werden the petitioner has a good track record of what he can do. I think the beauty of this building with 2 fronts and no back is phenomenal. We do not have that in Bartlett right now. I think this would be an asset and a good thing to get on the tax roles for the Village of Bartlett. B. Bucaro my concern is not with the parking. People who decide to rent here, it is their option and they will know what they are getting into. I cannot believe that the petitioner is going to



spend \$15 million and turn tenants away because there is a parking problem. That does not make sense. Looking at the shopping center, the petitioner is not that kind of business person. My concern is that it does not negatively affect residents of the Town Center. They have their parking and have overflow parking. How can the Village help to assure that the parking for the retail and the condos is not used by the residents of the apartment buildings? R. Grill the property owner currently takes care of that now and the Village does hear about that sometimes. B. Bucaro what is the likelihood of the Berteau Avenue street parking happening because it has a bearing on how I would vote. R. Grill I think the chances are very good. M. Werden I think it makes a huge difference too. That was a big turning point for me. I have never seen the Village be so proactive trying to resolve this issue. We want the Town Center to improve and grow. I think this would be a big asset. M. Sarwas in addition to the 16 parking spaces, how many more parking spaces would be available in the shopping center? M. Rafidia south of the 16 parking spots, next to the Montessori school there is space for 32 additional parking spots and that would still be within 500-600 feet from the building. **M. Sarwas** that is significant. M. Rafidia in regard to the ownership of the 2 properties, we will be recording a permanent easement. Even if we sell the shopping center in the future the new owners will have to honor the easement. J. Miaso can anyone park on Berteau Avenue 24 hours. R. Grill yes, anyone can park there 24 hours. J. Miaso could there be permit parking there? R. Grill we are not proposing permit parking at this time. M. Hopkins is there any way to get an increased setback on Berteau Avenue? Is there something you can do with the site plan and layout to get that to about 15 feet? Is there a way to draw the building further away from Berteau Avenue? M. Haylock not much. We could probably pick up a few feet. We have moved this building about 10 times over the last year and changed the parking at least that many times to try to improve it. It looks like there is a lot of room on the west side, but it is really tight. M. Hopkins without that commitment I just cannot do it. I can get past the parking and grit my teeth on the height, but that just kills it for me. I just cannot imagine walking by and driving by the condition. There is a huge radius at the bottom of the driveway and you are doing that for 2 overhead doors. Can you do 1 overhead door and make it a tighter turn with an 18' door? M. Haylock we need 2-way traffic. M. Hopkins you are being generous on the west side and pinching the east side to the point where I think it is dysfunctional and I am going to be a no. M. Haylock we cannot commit to 15 feet. That is just too much. M. Hopkins show me another place in the Village of Bartlett where you have a bedroom window that close to a property line. W. James it is difficult to argue against your own standards that you have in your ordinance. It is hard to conform to an urban-type development. M. Hopkins we have a form-based design, which is a performance-based design for our overlay district specifically so that we have the latitude to be able to say yes to a good design. I think we have to say no to a bad portion of the design and this building is nice, I cannot complain about that. It is just too close to Berteau Avenue. M. Werden you are looking at 1 bedroom in 1 unit out of 104 units and when this building is built nobody is forcing somebody to rent that unit. M. Haylock that window is not required for that particular unit, but I would rather leave the window. A. Hopkins I would hate to build something and say "if you want to live here, you can live here." I think that is a horrible way to develop something. The bottom level is going to have lights shining in the windows with car lights constantly. That is an issue.

J. Kallas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for a Second Amendment to Ordinance #2003-



123 to allow for 104 residential apartments in one building subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: J. Kallas Seconded by: J. Miaso

PC Roll Call Ayes: None

Nays: John Miaso, Austin Hopkins, Jerry Kallas, Mark Hopkins, Jim Lemberg

The motion failed to pass.

A. Hopkins made a motion to pass along **a positive recommendation** to the Village Board to approve case **(#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E)** for Amending the Special Use for a PUD to allow for 104 residential apartments in one building subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: A. Hopkins Seconded by: J. Kallas

PC Roll Call

Ayes: None

Nays: John Miaso, Austin Hopkins, Jerry Kallas, Mark Hopkins, Jim Lemberg

The motion failed to pass.

J. Kallas made a motion to pass along **a positive recommendation** to the Village Board to approve case **(#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E)** for Amending the approved Preliminary/Final PUD Plan (Residential Site Plan) subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: J. Kallas Seconded by: J. Miaso

PC Roll Call Ayes: None

Nays: John Miaso, Austin Hopkins, Jerry Kallas, Mark Hopkins, Jim Lemberg

The motion failed to pass.

J. Kallas made a motion to pass along **a positive recommendation** to the Village Board to approve case **(#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E)** for Amending the following Exhibits: Residential Site Plan – Exhibit E-2, Residential Building – First Floor Plan – Exhibit E-4, Residential Building – Garage Floor Plan – Exhibit E-5, Landscape Plan – Exhibit E-6, Building Elevations – Exhibit E-7 (SK-007, 008), and



Modifications to Bartlett Zoning and Subdivision and PUD Ordinances - Exhibit E8 #3 attached to Ordinance #2003-123 subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: J. Kallas Seconded by: A. Hopkins

PC Roll Call Ayes: None

Nays: John Miaso, Austin Hopkins, Jerry Kallas, Mark Hopkins, Jim Lemberg

The motion failed to pass.

J. Kallas made a motion to pass along **a positive recommendation** to the Village Board to approve case **(#20-16)** Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for a First Amendment to Ordinance #2005-124 to allow for 104 apartment units in one building subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: J. Kallas Seconded by: J. Miaso

PC Roll Call
Aves: None

Nays: John Miaso, Austin Hopkins, Jerry Kallas, Mark Hopkins, Jim Lemberg

The motion failed to pass.

J. Kallas made a motion to pass along **a positive recommendation** to the Village Board to approve case **(#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E)** for Amending the following Exhibits attached to Ordinance #2005-124: Residential Buildings 3, 4, & 5 First Floor Plan – Exhibit 1, Residential Buildings 3, 4 & 5 Second/Third Floor Plan – Exhibit 2, and Residential Buildings 3, 4 & 5 Elevations – Exhibit 3 subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.

Motioned by: J. Kallas Seconded by: J. Miaso

PC Roll Call Ayes: None

Nays: John Miaso, Austin Hopkins, Jerry Kallas, M. Hopkins, and Jim Lemberg

The motion failed to pass.

A. Hopkins made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for Plat of Consolidation subject to the conditions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report.



Motioned by: A. Hopkins Seconded by: J. Miaso

PC Roll Call

Ayes: J. Miaso, A. Hopkins, M. Hopkins

Nays: J. Kallas, Jim Lemberg

The motion carried.

M. Sarwas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for the following variation from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code) subject to the major design exceptions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report: 10-9C-3.C.3 – Other Frontage Build-to Zone – Corner Side Yard Setback

Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: C. Deveaux

ZBA Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, M. Sarwas, and M. Werden

Nays: J. Banno, C. Deveaux

The motion carried.

M. Sarwas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for the following variation from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code) subject to the major design exceptions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report: 10-9C-3.C.6 – Minimum Rear Setback

Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: C. Deveaux

ZBA Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, C. Deveaux, and M. Werden

Nays: None

The motion carried.

M. Sarwas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for the following variation from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code) subject to the major design exceptions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report: 10-9C-3.C.8[7] – Surface Parking & Loading Location – Rear Yard



Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: C. Deveaux

ZBA Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, C. Deveaux, and M. Werden

Nays: None

The motion carried.

M. Sarwas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for the following variation from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code) subject to the major design exceptions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report: 10-9C-3.D.1 – Maximum Height

Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: C. Deveaux

ZBA Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, and M. Werden

Nays: None

The motion carried.

M. Sarwas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for the following variation from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code) subject to the major design exceptions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report: 10-9C-4.D – Table C. Prohibited Materials

Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: C. Deveaux

ZBA Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, J. Banno, M. Sarwas, C. Deveaux, and M. Werden

Nays: None

The motion carried.

M. Sarwas made a motion to pass along a positive recommendation to the Village Board to approve case (#20-16) Residences at Bartlett Station (Site E) for the following variation from the Downtown Zoning Overlay District (Form Based Code) subject to the major design exceptions and findings of fact outlined in the staff report: 10-9C-5.D.1 – Table E. Minimum Parking Spaces

Motioned by: M. Sarwas Seconded by: C. Deveaux



ZBA Roll Call

Ayes: G. Koziol, B. Bucaro, M. Sarwas, and M. Werden

Nays: J. Banno, C. Deveaux

The motion carried.

M. Werden would the Village Board have to have a two-thirds vote to overrule the Plan Commission? R. Grill I will have to check with our village attorney.



Old Business/ New Business

R. Grill stated that each of your commissions will have a case next month so you will have a Zoning Board of Appeals meeting and a Plan Commission meeting separately on your regularly scheduled dates.

M. Werden asked if there was a motion to adjourn .

Motioned by: J. Miaso Seconded by: M. Hopkins

Motion passed by unanimous voice vote.

The meeting was adjourned at 10:22 pm.